IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT T. HAWK, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. :

: Case No. 88,179

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

A. ANNE OWENS Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 284920

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Robert Hawk, the defendant in this case, is legally deaf, as were the victims. Licensed interpreters signed at trial for Hawk and for the witness who were deaf. (15/15) The sign language interpreters were Sonny Searles, Elizabeth Millikin, Josephine Corrick and Hank Reidelberger. (15/30)

References to the record on appeal in this case will be made to the volume number, followed by a slash and the page number or numbers (Vol/page). References to the Supplemental Record will be referenced by the letters "SR," followed by a slash and the page number or numbers.

Volumes 1 through 9 contain pleadings, depositions and court documents. Volume 10 contains the written sentencing order and other trial documents, and the Notice of Appeal and other appellate documents. (10/1663-1804) The allocution hearing, sentencing hearing, and motion for new trial hearing are contained in Volume 11. (11/1805-1917) The exhibits and exhibit lists are in Volumes 1 through 14. (12-14/1918-61) Voir dire is contained in Volumes 15 and 16. (15-16/1-343) The guilt phase of the trial is in Volumes 17 through 22, and the penalty phase in Volume 23. The Supplemental Record contains the pretrial suppression hearing and a very short penalty phase hearing.

The issues in this brief are arranged in approximate chronological order, as they are best understood by this arrangement.

The order of the issues in no way indicates undersigned counsel's opinion as to the relative merits of the issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Robert T. Hawk, was indicted by a Pinellas County grand jury on March 2, 1993, for the first-degree murder of Betty Gray. He was also charged with the attempted murder of her husband, Matthew Gray. (1/6-7) The crimes allegedly occurred on or between the 18th and 19th of February, 1993.

Hawk was tried by jury January 16 through January 20, 1996, and found guilty as charged. (22/1266) Penalty phase was held January 23, 1996. (23/1335-1420) The jury recommended death by an eight to four vote. (10/1710, 23/1409)

At the March 29, 1996, sentencing, the trial court sentenced Hawk to death as to the first-degree murder. (10/1707-09, 1714, 11/1878) His written sentencing order was filed contemporaneously. (10/1710-14) He adjudicated Hawk guilty of attempted first-degree murder and sentenced him to a consecutive term of thirty years. The departure was based on "the heinous nature of the offense and the concurrent murder in the first degree." (11/1869-70, 1878)

The judge also found that Hawk had violated his probation and adjudicated him guilty of carnal intercourse with a minor, and burglary. He terminated Hawk's probation, and sentenced him, in accordance with the sentencing guidelines, to five-and-a-half years in prison for each offense, to run concurrently. (11/1867-69)

Motion for New Trial was denied at a hearing held May 3, 1996. (11/1805-1917) Notice of Appeal to this Court was filed May 17, 1996. (10/1764) The Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit was appointed by amended order on May 29, 1996. (10/1778)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

STATE'S CASE

Beth Teas, age 16, lived next door to Matthew and Betty Gray, an older couple, both of whom were hearing impaired. Beth was at home alone on Friday, February 19, 1993. (18/532-33) At 11:00 that morning, someone knocked on her door. She looked through the peephole and, because she did not know the "guy" at the door, did not answer. (18/534, 537) She saw the man go to the back door of the Grays' house and enter without knocking. She noticed that the back screen was leaning against the Grays' house on the ground below the window. She called her father, who called the police. (18/535, 537)

Several minutes later, Beth saw the man walk out of the Grays' house with a towel in his right hand. The towel appeared to be draped over an object in his hand. He got into the Grays' car, and drove away. (18/526, 46-47) Beth Teas met with the detectives. She and an artist drew a composite. (18/539) In court, Beth identified Hawk as the man she had seen enter the Grays' house. (18/537)

Deputy John Jewett, Pinellas County Sheriff's Department, was dispatched to the Grays' house on February 19, 1993, to investigate a reported burglary. (18/566) He noticed that one of the jalousie windows by the deadbolt in the back door had been removed. The kitchen window next to the door had a screen out of it. The screen was leaning against the window, which was slightly

open with a curtain caught in it. The rear door was not locked. Inside, Deputy Jewett noticed that the garage door was ajar. The garage and living room area appeared to be in order. The front door had a deadbolt with keys in it. It was locked. (18/568-70)

As he proceeded down the hall toward the bedrooms, he saw hair sticking out of the northeast bedroom, right by the doorway. He heard very labored breathing. He then saw Mrs. Gray's body on the floor of the northeast bedroom. She had massive trauma over her left eye and dried blood on her face. She was lying on her back with her legs apart, with panties and a "Depends" pad at her feet. Jewett checked but found no pulse. (18/571)

The door to the opposite, or northwest, bedroom was closed. As Jewett pushed it open, he saw Mr. Gray on the bed, with massive trauma to his head. He immediately called for assistance. (18/571-72) The paramedics arrived shortly. Mrs. Gray was pronounced dead at the scene. Mr. Gray was transported to Bayfront Medical Center in St. Petersburg by "Bayflite" helicopter. (18/572-73)

Sergeant Stephanie Campbell, Pinellas County Sheriff's Department, looked for money in the Grays' wallets and throughout the house but was unable to find any, except for some coins in a desk in Mr. Gray's bedroom. (18/602-03) They found a screwdriver under the desk, and pry marks on top of the desk, but no murder weapon or tools with blood on them. (18/605-06) She was unable to determine that anything was removed from the house. (18/621)

Deputy Kenneth Kanoski went to Bayfront Medical Center to contact Mr. Gray, age 63, who had been "Bayflited" there. When Kanoski arrived, Gray was incoherent. (19/654, 656-58) He was scheduled for surgery later in the day. (19/663) Kanoski was advised that the Grays' vehicle had been located behind a group of strip stores less than two blocks from the Grays' house He was assigned to surveillance of the vehicle in case someone returned to get it. (19/663-64) A couple hours later, the vehicle was towed and entered into evidence.¹ (19/665-68)

Dr. Robert Davis, associate medical examiner, responded to the scene of the homicide at 8:30 p.m. on Friday, February 19, 1993. (20/800) The house had no heat or air conditioning. Mrs. Gray's body was cold, and full rigor mortis was present, indicating that she had been dead for at least 12 to 14 hours, but not more than 24 hours. (20/808-09) Thus, Mrs. Gray died between 9:00 the previous evening (Thursday) and 9:00 that morning (Friday). (20/810)

The autopsy showed that Mrs. Gray was five feet, five inches tall, and weighed 198 pounds. She was sixty years old. (20/811) The cause of her death was massive blunt force injury to her head. (20/814) The pattern of blood in the lungs indicated that Mrs. Gray may have taken three or four breaths. (20/823-24, 828)

¹ Detective Madden located the vehicle at the Convenient Food Mart about 5:45 p.m, a five minute walk from Robert Hawk's house. (20/891-92) The Grays lived just a few minutes from Hawk. (20/894)

Dr. Davis could not determine the sequence of the head wounds. Once the injury to the left side of her head occurred, the victim would have been immediately unconscious, and death would have occurred within several seconds. (20/827)

The prosecutor also showed Dr. Davis photographs of Mr. Gray, whom he had not examined. Dr. Davis again found nonspecific crescent shaped wounds. (20/821-22) He said that the wounds were consistent with the same weapon being used on both victims.

The prosecutor inquired about a bruise on the left side of Mrs. Gray's wrist. Dr. Davis said that the wound's location was consistent with being a defensive wound, but he had a problem with the age of the bruise. Although he could not rule out the possibility that this was a defensive wound, he found indications that it was an older bruise. He said it was very difficult to age bruises; thus, he could not be certain whether this bruise was old or new. It looked older than the head injuries. (20/814-21, 828)

Alyce Fredericks positively identified a latent print taken from the Grays' kitchen window as Robert Hawk's right thumb print. She identified Hawk's left palm print as the print found on the driver's side window of Grays' car. It is impossible to tell when a fingerprint was made. She found prints in the Gray's house that were not made by anyone with known prints. (20/847, 857, 859-61)

Michael Madden, Pinellas County Sheriff's Department, was assigned case agent. (20/885-86) Among other things, he observed a shoe print on Betty Gray's bed. (20/889) Daniel Attenberger, supervisory agent for the FBI, examined Hawk's left shoe and comparing it to the shoe print left on Mrs. Gray's bed. He concluded that Hawk's shoe made the impression. (21/1083-91)

Khoa Nguyen, 18, was a neighbor of the Grays. In the early morning hours of Friday, February 19, 1993, he and a friend were sitting in the car talking. The car was parked between his house the Grays' house. They saw Robert Hawk walk past their car. (20/474) About an hour later, someone started and restarted the car, making a grinding noise. Nguyen turned and saw someone back up and drive away, but could not see who was driving. (20/478-79)

Luis Valles, age 23 and hearing impaired, knew Hawk from high school and the Florida School for the Deaf. (17/415-17) Since he had been attending St. Petersburg Junior College, he just saw Hawk occasionally. On February 18th, Hawk showed up at his apartment unexpectedly, sometime after midnight. (17/418) He seemed nervous and jittery. Hawk told him that he "blew away people," and that he "killed a couple of people." In sign language, Hawk pointed his hand in a gesture like he was firing a gun. When Valles did not believe him, Hawk showed Valles some blood on the wrists of his sweater. Valles thought Hawk was intoxicated at the time because his eyes were red and his breath smelled of alcohol. (17/425) He admitted they all got drunk

every time they "partied." (17/426)

Late in the afternoon of the following day, Luis Valles saw news of the crime, including a composite of the suspect. He contacted Crime Stoppers and a detective at the Pinellas County Sheriff's Department. (19/731-38) Thomas Klein received the call from Luis Valles at 7:36 Friday evening, by TDD phone.² (19/739-44) Billy Theiss, 27 and hearing-impaired, still lived with his mother at the time of the trial. (17/507) He recalled that Robert Hawk came to his house and told him that he had a new car which his father bought for him. Billy went for a ride with Hawk in the car. (17/512-13) Hawk showed him a wad of money. (17/515)

At the time of the trial, Billy's brother, Matthew Theiss, 22, had been incarcerated at Lancaster Correctional Institute for six months, serving a 25-month sentence for twelve felonies. (17/487-89) He knew Hawk through his brother, Billy. Because of Billy, Matthew had learned to communicate in sign language. (17/489-90)

At the time of the homicide, Matthew was living with his mother and brother. At 1:00 or 1:30 a.m. on February 19, 1993, Hawk arrived at their house in a blue Cavalier. (17/492) He told Theiss that his father was buying the car for him. Although Hawk usually had bad breath and did not take care of himself very

² TDD phone is a special telephone for deaf persons.

well, he was clean, had shaved and was wearing deodorant.

(17/494 - 95)

Although Matthew recognized Hawk from the police sketch, he did not call the police, but waited to see what would happen. (17/496-98)

Benjamin Vieczorek, age 18, testified that Hawk lived with his family for about four months. His family consisted of his mother and his brother, Daniel. (17/435-38) On the evening of February 18, 1993, he and a couple friends were at his home when Bobby Hawk showed up. Bobby seemed "kind of sketchy" and "wasn't himself." He told Vieczorek that he shot someone. Vieczorek thought Hawk was joking. When Hawk displayed blood on his wrists and blood splatter on his chest, Vieczorek was shocked. (17/438) Jimmy Palmer, age 17, was one of the boys who was visiting Benjamin Vieczorek that night. (17/447-48) He agreed that Hawk seemed nervous and related the same information as Benjamin. (17/450)

Mrs. Robin Vieczorek testified that Hawk was like a son to her. (17/461) One night when she arrived home from work, Bobby was there with her sons. (17/464, 468) He wanted her to see his car. The car was a grayish-bluish sedan. Hawk said his mother bought the car for him. (17/465-68)

Rickie Brooks saw Robert Hawk on Friday, February 19th, at Tampa Technical where he went to school. Bobby was driving a blue Cavalier. He said he father gave it to him. (19/728-29)

Dennis Copenhaver, age 23, knew Robert Hawk from Southland Roller Palace, a skating rink owned by Hawk's parents. (19/746-47) He remembered seeing Hawk at the skating rink about the time of the homicide. Hawk told him that a couple people in his neighborhood got killed, and that they got hit with a hammer. Copenhaver did not believe Hawk because he was known for telling stories. (19/749)

Gerri Shillito, concession manager and cashier at Southland, had worked for Bobby Hawk's parents, Pat and Glenn Sarley, for almost ten years. She and Bobby Hawk were very close friends. She was working on Thursday, February 18, 1993, at the all-night skate. Although Bobby usually attended the all-night skates, she did not see him there that night. The following night, Bobby was there. He was very nervous. Usually he was a "happy-go-lucky dude." Rather than skating with the other kids, he stayed in the DJ booth with her. He was very serious. (19/758-62) At 11:00 p.m., he asked her to go with him to his parents' private office and to turn on the news. Bobby told her that someone had been murdered in his neighborhood. (19/763)

Debbie Thomas, age 24 and hearing impaired, knew Robert Hawk through her boyfriend Christopher ("Kit") Clements, 23, who was also hearing impaired. (17/387-89) Thomas said she and Hawk were very close; he was like a brother to her, and visited her home every day. (17/389) Over defense objection (17/391), she testified that, about three days before the crime occurred, Hawk

said he could "hit old people," that he could "fuck them up," and that he could "beat up old people." (17/394) Her boyfriend knew Hawk from the skating rink, and also from the school for the deaf in St. Augustine. (17/408) Clements also heard Hawk's comments several days before the murder. (17/411)

Late Friday afternoon, Detective Madden received information that Robert Hawk was a suspect. (20/889) At 1:30 a.m. the following morning, he and a sign language interpreter, Nancy Freeland, arrived at Hawk's home. Hawk was at home by himself, and agreed to accompany them to the sheriff's office to talk to him. (20/902)

After Hawk was taken to the sheriff's office, Deputy Kanoski secured the residence and awaited the return of Hawk's parents. They returned at 2:55 a.m. (91/670) While at Hawk's residence, Kanoski had a phone conversation with an attorney contacted by Hawk's parents. At 3:25 a.m., he relayed to Sergeant Ring that the attorney wished that the defendant not talk to anyone. (19/681)

Madden, Freeland and Hawk arrived at the sheriff's office shortly after 2:00 a.m. on February 20, 1993. The interview began at 2:25 a.m. (20/903) An audiotape of Hawk's statement, interpreted by Nancy Freeland, was played for the jury. (20/907) Madden first read Hawk his rights. (20/907-08) When Madden asked if Hawk would talk to him about the incident in his neighborhood, Hawk said he had "no idea about it." After Madden asked him

several times if he would answer questions about it, Hawk finally agreed to do so. (20/909) (See Issue I, <u>infra</u>.)

Hawk first told Detective Madden that he was with Billy Theiss and Missy Noon at their house on Thursday night from 5:30 or 6:00 until 12:30 when he went to bed. (20/912) On Friday, he walked to the home of Billy Theiss who owed him money. Billy was not at home. That evening he went skating. (20/913-14)

Hawk said he had a moped and had not driven a car for a long time. (20/915) He said he knew a deaf couple in his neighborhood but had not seen them for one-and-a-half years. He admitted that he had walked by their house on Friday morning while taking a shortcut to the Theiss house, but denied going in. (20/916-17) He rang the doorbell at the house next to the Grays' but no one answered. He wanted to ask where the Grays' car was. (20/920)

When Detective Madden confronted Hawk with Beth Teas' statement, and told him that many of his deaf friends saw him in the Grays' car and some of them called in to report that he had talked to them about killing "these people," Hawk said he had "no idea." When Madden told him that "Billy" took a ride in the car, and asked him how he got the car, Hawk said he just got the keys. On Friday afternoon, he knocked on the door and no one answered. He thought something was wrong. He found the back door open and saw blood "all over" and was shocked. He took the car. (20/923-24)

Hawk admitted that he took the car and went to Billy's on

Thursday night. When Madden accused him of lying, Hawk said he was afraid because he knew "these people were -- " Madden then asked him why his fingerprints were on the window that he climbed through to get in the house. Hawk then told Madden he just opened the window. The keys were in the front door. (20/927)

When Madden suggested that on Thursday night Hawk went through the window and killed the woman, Hawk said that: "The lady was laying there on her back, on the floor by the bed. I saw her." When Madden reminded him that Billy saw him in the car Thursday night, he said it was Friday afternoon. When Madden said that Billy saw him Thursday night and went for a ride with him until about 2:00 a.m., Hawk said, "That's right." (20/929) Upon further confrontation by Madden, Hawk said that the house was open on Thursday.³ He pushed up the window by the kitchen but did not go in because the door was open. He saw Mrs. Gray from the hallway. Mr. Gray was on the bed in another room. (20/930-31) Madden then told Hawk that he was going to be charged with "their murder." (20/931)

Charles F. Edel, Broward County Sheriff's Office, testified as an expert in blood stain identification and interpretation.

³ Hawk seemed confused about the day of the week that the events occurred. (20/924, 926) Because the interview took place during the night following the homicides, it is hard to understand why Hawk was confused unless he did not understand the questions or was intoxicated. Hawk's statements were not always in response to the questions. For example, when Madden asked, "What kind of shoes are those?", Hawk responded, "On the weekend?" (20/918).

(20/957 -66, 974) He went to the Grays' home to look for blood stains by using the chemical "Luminol." (21/977-80) By use of a photograph of Mrs. Gray's body at the scene, he determined that a left palm print was located six to eight inches from her head area. (21/984-85) She was on the bed at the time of the primary bloodshed. (21/987) In his opinion, the weapon was a claw hammer. (21/1006)

Special Agent Michael Malone, FBI hair and fiber expert, examined a hair found in Betty Gray's eye. He opined that it had been forcibly removed. Although it was consistent with Hawk's hair, hair identification is not an exact science. (21/1048) Additionally, the hair could have been transferred from the head itself, or from clothing or another item to which it had been transferred earlier. (21/1004-05)

DEFENSE CASE

After the judge denied the defense motion for judgment of acquittal (21/1093), Robert Hawk testified, through an interpreter. (21/1094) He said that he was nineteen years old at the time of the offense. He was not sure how much schooling he had had but thought maybe 11th grade. He went to special schools. He could not remember how long he had been deaf but knew it was caused by meningitis when he was about two-and-a-half years old. He said he did not read lips very well, but if the speaker were close to him and spoke slowly, he could understand.

Generally, when he reads lips, he understands about 25 percent. (21/1095-97)

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