IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT T. HAWK,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 88,179

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M SABELLA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

"Incapacitated person" is defined by Florida law as a person who has been judicially determined to lack the capacity to manage at least some of the property or to meet at least some of the essential health and safety requirements of such person. § 744.102(10), Fla. Stat. (1995). See also, § 744.3201, Fla. Stat. (1995). Under the circumstances, it should come as a surprise to no one that the severely injured Mr. Gray would be incapacitated to the point that he could not handle his own affairs during the pendency of his recovery. This determination does not mean that he was incompetent to testify.

More importantly, the state presented undisputed evidence that eight months prior to the trial in the instant case, Mr. Gray's

rights were partially restored by an Order of Partial Restoration. (R 1961) Therefore, at the time of the trial the incapacities that hindered Mr. Gray's ability to handle his own affairs were largely a nonissue.

In light of Hawk's failure to request a competency hearing, to present competent evidence that Mr. Gray was incompetent to testify and to show that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the witness to testify as to the alleged sexual abuse, he is not entitled to relief on appeal.

Finally, it is the state's position that even if it was error to allow Mr. Gray to testify, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Mr. Gray's complete testimony was as follows:

"BY MR. HEYMAN:

Could you state your name? THE INTERPRETER: He's spelling it, Matthew Gray.

(by Mr. Heyman) Mr. Gray, do you know Robert Hawk? Yes or no?

Yes. He stole --Yes. Yes. THE INTERPRETER: Stop.

MR. HEYMAN: Stop. Stop. Stop.

The --"

(T 1161)

- (By Mr. Heyman) Mr. Gray, I need a a yes or no answer to this question. Understand?
 - The question.
 - He has a question? He can't ask me. 0
 - Yes or no.
- Why don't you ask him this, did you ever sexually molest Robert Hawk?
 - No, no, no. Α
 - No further questions.

A No. Never.

MR. HEYMAN: No further questions.

MR. MCDERMOTT: No questions,

Judge."

(T 1163)

Mr. Gray's testimony was limited to the question of Hawk's claim of abuse. Although Appellant claims prejudice from Mr. Gray's statement that "he stole," the court found that his statement was not clear and that he didn't think the jury heard it. (T 1164) Additionally, since the evidence showed that Hawk had stolen the victims' car and money, the only inference the jury could make is that Gray was referring to the instant theft. Based on the foregoing and in light of the overwhelming nature of the evidence in the instant case, error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Burns v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S419 (Fla. 1997).

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE MOTION TO DECLARE THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL JURY INSTRUCTION UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND DECLINING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE FACTOR.

Appellant's challenge to the heinous, atrocious or cruel jury instruction is procedurally barred. This Court has repeatedly stated that to preserve this claim for review, there must be an objection to the instruction and a proposed alternate instruction. Hall v. State, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla.), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ____, 114 S.Ct. 109, 126 L.Ed.2d 74 (1993). While counsel objected to the instruction, he refused to give a proposed instruction stating that he was unable to fashion an instruction which would cure vagueness. Accordingly, he is not entitled to relief on this claim. (R 1588, T 1319-20, 1333)

Even if this claim was not barred, it is without merit. The jury was given the full instruction on heinous, atrocious, or cruel now contained in Florida Standard Jury Instructions in criminal cases. This Court has consistently rejected claims that the statute or the new jury instructions are unconstitutionally vague.

". . . Because of this court's narrowing construction, the United States Supreme Court upheld the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious, or cruel against the vagueness challenge in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (Fla. 1976). Unlike the jury instruction found wanting in Espinosa v. Florida, ___ U.S. ___, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992), the full instruction on heinous, atrocious and cruel now contained in the Florida Standard

Jury Instruction in Criminal Cases, which is consistent with Proffitt was given in Preston's case."

<u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So.2d 404, 411 (Fla. 1992). <u>Accord</u>, <u>Stein v. State</u>, 632 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1994); <u>Hall v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1993).

To paraphrase this Court's holding in <u>Whitton v. State</u>, 649 So.2d 861, 867 (Fla. 1994) this instruction was approved in <u>Hall v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, ____ U.S. ____, 114 S.Ct. 109, 126 L.Ed.2d 74 (1993), and [Hawk] has not presented an adequate reason to recede from that decision.

The instruction given in the instant case and the statute are constitutional and, therefore, even absent the procedural bar, Hawk would not be entitled to relief on this claim. Further, in light of the particular facts of this case, error, if any, is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATOR WHICH HE LATER DECLINED TO FIND ESTABLISHED.

Appellant asserts that it was error for the court to instruct the jury on the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious or cruel since the trial judge did not find this factor to exist.

This claim was rejected by this Court in <u>Bowden v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 225 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 503 U.S. 975 (1992), wherein this Court stated:

"In connection with the penalty phase of the trial, Bowden maintains that it was error to instruct the jury it could consider the aggravating circumstance that the homicide was robbery because committed during а evidence did not support such a finding, as evidenced by the trial court's rejection of the circumstance. The fact that the state did not prove this aggravating factor to the trial court's satisfaction does not require insufficient conclusion that there was evidence of a robbery to allow the jury to consider the factor. Where, as here, evidence of a mitigating or aggravating factor has been presented to the jury, an instruction on the factor is required. Stewart v. State, 558 So.2d 416, 420 (Fla.1990). As we have previously noted,

[i]f the advisory function [of the jury] were to be limited initially because the jury could only consider those mitigating and aggravating circumstances which the trial judge decided to be appropriate in a particular case, the statutory scheme would be distorted. The jury's advice would be preconditioned by the judge's view of what they were allowed to know.

558 So.2d at 421 (emphasis deleted)

(quoting Floyd v. State, 497 So.2d 1211, 1215 (Fla.1986))."

Bowden at 231.

Appellant argues that the Court's decision in <u>Griffin v. United States</u>, 502 U.S. 46 (1991), mandates reversal because the jury could have erroneously relied on the instruction. Both the <u>Griffin Court and this Court have recognized that a jury is not going to be misled about a factual finding which lacks the necessary factual support. <u>Foster v. State</u>, 679 So.2d 747, 753 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, ___ U.S. ___, 117 S.Ct. 1259 (1997); <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 612 So.2d 575, 577 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 508 U.S. 901 (1993).</u>

In the instant case, there was evidence of a brutal beating, massive and multiple blunt trauma to the head, a sexual assault, movement of the body either during or after the attack, blood in the lungs which indicated that the victim was still alive during the continuance of the attack and a defensive wound indicating a struggle. Although the age of the defensive wound was in question, it was still a fact which the jury could consider. Based

⁷ Although the state argued to the court that the position of Betty Gray's body indicated a sexual assault, the court did not allow the state to argue it to the jury. It is the state's position that this evidence should have been considered. Although the medical examiner could not state with a reasonable degree of medical certainty that a sexual assault had occurred, he said the evidence was consistent with such an assault. Betty Gray's body was found sprawled on the floor, her panties were removed and at her feet and her nightgown was pushed up over her hips, as well as being torn so as to expose her breast.

on these facts, the trial court properly gave the requested instruction. <u>Bowden</u>.

Furthermore, it is the state's position that the trial court erred in failing to find the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor.

Assuming, arguendo, that it was error to so instruct the jury, in light of the facts of this case, it was harmless.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE SENTENCING OPTION OF LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE WHERE THAT PENALTY BECAME THE LAW AFTER THE CRIME BUT BEFORE TRIAL.

Appellant also urges error based on the court's instruction to the jury that if by six or more votes the jury determined that Hawk should not be sentenced to death, their advisory recommendation should be "a sentence of life imprisonment upon Robert T. Hawk without possibility of parole for twenty-five years". (T 1402) He contends that even though his crime occurred prior to effective date of the newly enacted § 775.082(1), Fla. Stat. (1995), that his jury should have been instructed in accordance with the new law which eliminates the possibility of parole. This position is procedurally barred and an incorrect statement of the law.

Initially, appellant may not prevail because this claim was not argued to the court below. (T 1285-92) In <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979), this Court ruled:

"This Court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary to his understanding of the law."

(text at 1152).

Having failed to present this argument to the trial court, his argument must fail here as unpreserved.

Secondly, appellant's claim must fail because this Court has determined that the 1994 amendment to F.S. 775.082(1) became

effective on May 25, 1994, and therefore, "it applies to offenses committed on or after that date". <u>In Re Standard Jury Instructions</u> in Criminal Cases, 678 So.2d 1224, fn. 1 (Fla. 1996). Since Hawk committed his offense in February of 1993, the amendment is not applicable.⁸ To have instructed the jury otherwise would have been an incorrect statement of the law.

Accordingly, the state urges this court to find that this claim is barred and meritless.

While appellant relies on a number of Oklahoma decisions supporting a contrary view, they are not binding on this Court's interpretation of a Florida statute. Appellee agrees with the dissenting view of Judge Lumpkin that the appropriate criminal penalty is the penalty in effect at the time the defendant committed the crime. Salazar v. State, 852 P.2d 729, at 740-742 (Okla. Cr. 1993); Hain v. State, 852 P.2d 744, at 754-755 (Okla. Cr. 1993); Humphrey v. State, 864 P.2d 343, 344 (Okla. Cr. 1993); Fontenot v. State, 881 P.2d 69, at 86 (Okla. Cr. 1994); Parker v. State, 887 P.2d 290, at 299 (Okla. Cr. 1994); Cheatham v. State, 900 P.2d 414, 429-430 (Okla. Cr. 1995); McCarty v. State, 904 P.2d 110, 129 (Okla. Cr. 1995); Bowie v. State, 906 P.2d 759, 765 (Okla. Cr. 1995).

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON AND FINDING THAT THE CRIME WAS COMMITTED FOR PECUNIARY GAIN.

Appellant next contends that the trial court erred in finding in aggravation that this crime was committed for pecuniary gain. According to appellant, any financial gain that he obtained by taking the victims' car and money was incidental to the murder, and not the primary motive for it. Thus, he asserts, under Scull v.State, 533 So.2d 1137 (Fla.), Cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1037 (1989) and Hill v.State, 549 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1989), the pecuniary gain factor was not applicable. It is the state's position that the trial court properly found the aggravating factor of pecuniary gain.

In the sentencing order on this matter, the trial judge noted that, from the totality of the evidence, Betty Gray was murdered to facilitate the theft of money from the house and the grand theft of the car, and that the defendant's actions and motives distinguished this case from <u>Hill</u> and <u>Scull</u>. Appellant disputes this conclusion, speculating that he may have been motivated to kill in order to impress his friends or because he was angry with the Grays. Based on the evidence presented below, appellant's argument is without merit.

At trial, the state established that after killing Mrs. Gray and nearly killing her husband, appellant had the Grays' car keys from the house and left in their car. (T 927) He later bragged

about the crime to his friends, showing them the car and a "wad" of money. (T 439, 452) Significantly, no money was found in Mrs. Gray's purse or anywhere in the Grays' home. State witness Palmer indicated that usually, Hawk kept his money organized on a money clip; that night, it was just in wads, and Hawk claimed to have gotten it from shooting someone. (T 452) Appellant concedes that he did not take the car to facilitate his escape (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 84); since he lived in the same neighborhood as the victims, he had no need of stealing a car in order to facilitate his escape. This Court has repeatedly upheld the finding of this aggravating factor where, as here, other felonies such as robbery were committed at the time of the murder. Melton v. State, 638 So.2d 927 (Fla. 1994); Bates v. State, 465 So.2d 490, 492 (Fla. 1985).

The circumstances of appellant's possession of the money support a reasonable inference that the money was stolen from the Grays. Appellant's ability to speculate that the money may have come from another source is not material, since this Court will view the record in the light most favorable to the prevailing theory as to the existence of an aggravating circumstance. Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1012, 1019 (Fla.), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1070 (1995). In addition, even if there were no evidence that the appellant possessed money after the murder, the pecuniary gain factor is clearly applicable where the murder is committed in order to obtain the victims' car. Jones v. State, 690 So.2d 568, 570

(Fla. 1996); Jones v. State, 612 So.2d 1370, 1375 (Fla.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 836 (1993); Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046, 1050 (Fla. 1985). The fact that the appellant abandoned the car the following day does not preclude a finding that the murder was committed to facilitate the taking of the car. Porter v. State, 429 So.2d 293, 296 (Fla. 1983).

The trial court is not required to reject this aggravator based on a suggestion that another motivation for the murder existed. Lawrence v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S125 (Fla. March 13, 1997); Thompson v. State, 553 So.2d 153, 156 (Fla. 1989). As long as the murder was motivated, at least in part, by a desire for pecuniary gain, the aggravating factor applies. Finney v. State, 660 So.2d 674, 680 (Fla.), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 823 (1996).

This case is not governed by <u>Scull</u>, since appellant did not take the victims' car in order to facilitate his escape; he used the car, returned it to the Grays' driveway, then returned later and used the car again. Similarly, <u>Hill</u> is not analogous factually since the defendant in that case had previously stated his intent to rape and beat the victim, suggesting that taking her billfold was an afterthought. In this case, no other possible motive for the burglary is suggested by the evidence, only by appellant's unsupported speculation. Thus, the court below correctly distinguished these cases.

On these facts, no error has been shown by the trial court's reliance on the aggravating factor that the murder was committed

for pecuniary gain. In addition, even if evidence of a theft was lacking, the murder was clearly committed during the course of a burglary, and there would be no bar to consideration of this factor if appellant's sentence were reconsidered. Thus, any impropriety in the consideration of the pecuniary gain factor would not affect the appellant's sentence, and must be deemed harmless beyond any doubt. Therefore, appellant is not entitled to any relief on this issue.

⁹ If this Court should deem it necessary to remand for a resentencing, the additional aggravating factors set forth in §921.141(5)(a), Fla. Stat. (1996) (committed by a person on felony probation) and §921.141(5)(m), Fla. Stat. (1996) (victim vulnerable due to advanced age or disability) would be applicable as Hawk was on felony probation at the time he murdered the elderly and disabled Mrs. Gray. (T 1722-1732) Cf. Trotter v. State, 690 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1996)

ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE DEATH SENTENCE WAS PROPORTIONATE WHEN COMPARED TO SIMILAR CASES.

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